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[image: ]e live in an age where travel within our country is defined by the car we drive, the nearest motorway. All movement is land-based, road-based. It’s hard to imagine, but long ago, people travelled in very different ways. It’s time to look back and remember those ways, even, perhaps, to rediscover them. They’re still there, waiting to be found.


The first settlers arriving on our shores found safe havens, natural harbours, the estuaries of rivers, and settled there, in sight of the ocean that had brought them to this land. Gradually they moved inland to more fertile soil, following the course of the river. These natural waterways were the easiest way to travel when most of the country was covered with thick forests and it was all too easy to lose the way or run into danger. In later centuries, great lords built their castles and monks their abbeys along these river roads, and in turn, towns and cities developed around them.


Tracks also began to appear between isolated settlements or between such settlements and ports where markets were held. Longer routes were marked out over mountains, through passes, across boglands. Where the land was very boggy, wooden trackways called toghers were built, similar to the old corduroy roads which led into Siberian Russia. And pilgrims travelling to ancient sites of worship followed old tracks, guided by marker stones and distinctive natural features in the landscape. Gradually major roads became identified: for example the Slíghe Mhór across the midlands, on a natural esker or raised causeway. These were still rough and ready trackways, but they made long distance travel possible.


Later still, as the world of industry expanded, businessmen saw the possibilities of expanding the useful river system to allow carriage of heavier loads further distances. Canals made connections possible between already important waterways and also extended the navigable length of individual rivers by cutting off large natural loops or avoiding narrow, rough, or shallow stretches.


Ironically, the canals of Ireland were hardly out of their infancy before they were threatened by the advent of the railway, and many fell into disuse, becoming silted up and overgrown by the lush growth that in Ireland is always ready to invade and take back its own.


At its height, the railway system covered almost every part of Ireland, with the stations and halts of little branch lines serving tiny settlements and connecting to the main routes between cities. Once the motor vehicle became established, though, the railways too began to decline, and today what remains is but a skeleton of what once was. Yet still there in the countryside lie the old tracks, the forgotten stations, the hidden halts, each one with its own story to tell.
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In our own time, the increasing demands of commerce and cars have encouraged the creation of new, ever-faster motorways and dual carriageways, shortening journeys between major destinations, cutting off wasteful curves and by-passing towns and villages which once saw a constant roar of traffic. The journeys are faster, yes, but the amount you miss by following the main through route is incalculable. If you want to know more about the real Ireland, then do yourself a favour. Find the old road. Rediscover the old ways of travelling. By turning off the main highway and discovering venerable routes, some of which have been travelled for thousands of years, you will see Ireland in an entirely different way.
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River Shannon at Clonmacnoise























CHAPTER I


The Great River Roads
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[image: ]hen we think of old roads, tracks, byways, we naturally tend to visualise these as being tramped out over the centuries on solid ground – over mountains, through valleys, leading to sacred sites, markets and castles, linking one community with another. Yet there are far earlier roads, known and followed by travellers since prehistoric times.


Those who first came this way by sea (itself the most ancient and well-known path) found Ireland had a deeply indented coastline with safe and sheltered bays. They followed the rivers that flowed into these bays, rivers that pointed the way ever onward and upward, drawing the intrepid explorer on with the promise of fertile soil, fresh water and, above all, a safe place to settle.


The great river roads connecting Ireland’s interior to the sea gave easy and relatively safe access. No need to beat through thick forests where enemies or wild animals might lurk, no danger of losing your way. When a highway like that opens up in front of you, the most natural thing in the world is to accept its lure and set off to find out what lies round the next bend. And where the first explorers led, others followed, each contributing to the gradual expansion of settlement and trade.
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Ireland is bountifully supplied with rivers, each with its own story to tell from prehistory to the present. Here are three (or perhaps we should call it five, strictly speaking) that reflect different aspects of those stories and of the country. They are the Shannon, the Bann, and the Three Sisters.


THE SHANNON: FIRST OF ALL, LINKING ALL


The longest river in Ireland and indeed longer than any in neighbouring Great Britain, the Shannon rises from a dark and mysterious pool in Co. Cavan and flows south and west for 360km (224 miles) through or between eleven counties before reaching its estuary, which is itself a major harbour. Virtually dividing Ireland in half, it’s our supreme waterway, known and travelled for thousands of years. It has seen invaders, pilgrims, colonialists, battle fleets, engineers, industrialists, and finally pleasure-seeking tourists. As such, it is linked to every stage of Ireland’s history and development.


Whoever first happened upon its spreading estuary must have wondered what could possibly lie further inland, since from the sea it is not possible to guess just how far the wide waters continue. What we do know is that it was familiar to the world’s earliest traders. It is shown on Ptolemy’s famous 2nd-century map, which was itself compiled from earlier sources held in the legendary library of Alexandria in Egypt.


Alexandria was an important trading centre at the cross-roads between west and east. The Pharaohs gently but firmly insisted that any books or writings arriving with travellers should be confiscated and copied for their library. In fact the originals were then kept by the Pharaohs, the travellers getting the copy. The great library became a treasure house of knowledge, and Ptolemy would thus have gathered his information on Ireland from sources such as nautical charts or descriptions of journeys, which would themselves have originated from information passed between trading ships over previous centuries. We can be fairly sure, therefore, that a good knowledge of Ireland’s coastline and its major rivers was available from before the time of Christ. And that in turn argues a succession of visitors to these shores, whether traders or travellers, from a long way back.


What did they come for – trade, raid, worship or settlement? The trade route from Iberia to Ireland and Great Britain stretches back into prehistory. Ships from the Middle Sea or Mediterranean would have brought wine and salt north, exchanging it for hides, wool, grain and copper. They in turn dealt with Greek and Phoenicians, and it is quite likely that these traders from the far south also came to Ireland. From the north, the Danes brought tar and timber, seeking foodstuffs and hides in return. Later they would return in their longships, to plunder, terrorise, and finally settle.


Then there were pre-Christian pilgrims who might well have made the long journey to visit famous sacred sites like the Hill of Uisneach, using the river roads to reach them. And finally there were those seeking new lands, somewhere to settle, found a community, raise families and crops. Many came to the estuary of the Shannon.


This river has always been of strategic importance. When Oliver Cromwell ravaged the country in 1654, his principal aim was to ethnically cleanse three of the four provinces to free up the land for incoming English settlers. Any surviving landowners were given the choice of going ‘to Hell or to Connacht’; that is, die or migrate into the poorer land west of the Shannon.


Approaching from the sea, the Shannon estuary appears enormous, as indeed it is, with Co. Limerick spreading out on the southern side and Co. Clare to the north. The estuary has boasted its own river monster since ancient times, a fearsome creature called Cathaigh, which sported a horse’s mane, a whale’s tail, and death-dealing nails of iron.
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Scattery Island








St Senan, patron saint of Co. Clare, is said to have defeated Cathaigh at Inis Cathaigh, or Scattery Island, which lies in the estuary just outside Kilrush. You can’t keep a good monster down, though, and she might still be spotted on stormy days if you keep your eyes open. Senan afterwards founded a monastery on the island, the ruins of which still stand, along with a round tower. Catch a ferry there from Kilrush and enjoy the peace that now envelops an islet which has seen Viking raiders, sheltering Spanish Armada ships, Tudor invaders, and even more recent British army outposts. An island in such an estuary is a key strategic location, whatever the century.


A short distance upriver from Scattery, the estuary narrows a little, and here a modern car ferry crosses between Killimer and Tarbert, reflecting thousands of years of boat travel transporting travellers from one side to the other. The name Tarbert, or Tairbeart, means a draw-boat or portage, that is, a place where boats must be pulled across land to reach another stretch of water. The ferry port is in fact on a little island just off the mainland, although this is now connected by a bridge. In early times, those crossing the estuary at this narrower point might well have had to drag their boats across the narrow island before reaching the Limerick shore. The car ferry is an ideal way to experience the space, the grandeur, the wildness of this great river as it meets the sea. Dolphins are often spotted disporting themselves around the boats (they really seem to enjoy accompanying them).


Foynes, on the Limerick side, was the first landing base in Ireland for seaplanes or flying boats from North America. Surveys were made by Charles Lindbergh in the early 1930s, and the first transatlantic flight from Newfoundland landed there in 1937. In 1942, Foynes was abandoned in favour of a new airport at Shannon. Today it houses a museum of flying boat history.


The distinctive fishtail shape of the upper estuary becomes noticeable here, the River Fergus forming the north fin, and leading on to Newmarket-on-Fergus, Clarecastle and Ennis. The southern fin of the fishtail is the Shannon itself.


The flat landscape we see today around the Shannon estuary was far more thickly wooded in antiquity. Archaeological digs, as well as occasional marked drops in sea level, have revealed the remains of coastal forests as well as trackways and wooden dwellings. The remains of woven willow fish baskets and fish traps have been found, and the medieval Annals of Innisfallen record that in 1105 ‘…there was caught by fishermen in the sea of Luimneach [Limerick] a fish of unheard-of size which measured fifteen feet, and two ingots’ weight were obtained for it.’ Was it a basking shark? A pilot whale? Or perhaps one of Cathaigh’s offspring, escaped from St Senan’s clutches?


Lough Gur, 22km (13.6 miles) south of Limerick, was probably settled by migrants arriving via the rivers Shannon and Maigue some 6,000 years ago. Today’s site has been reconstructed to give an idea of what life was like in the Stone, Bronze, Iron, Early Christian, and medieval eras. About 300m (330 yds) west of the main centre is the largest stone circle in Ireland, Grange, built around 2,200 BC. The largest of its 113 standing stones is known as Crom Dubh, after an early pagan harvest god.


Bunratty Castle, on the Clare side of the Shannon, is a tourist magnet, offering everything from medieval castle banquets and shopping to a folk museum. The Vikings got here first, though, creating a settlement in the 10th century on high ground, giving them extensive view south over the estuary. That strategic position was not lost on the Anglo-Normans either: they established a medieval town on the same spot. By 1287 this had a population of about 1,000 people, and boasted a castle, a court, a shambles (meat market), fairs, a water mill, a fish pond, and a rabbit warren. One 14th-century Irish text refers to ‘Bunratty of the wide roads, oared galleys and safe harbour.’
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Basking sharks swim just under the surface of the water.








On the other side of the Shannon, lies the thriving city of Limerick. It was founded by the Vikings who discovered a handy island there on which to set up camp in 812. Today known as King’s Island, this is hardly distinguishable as a separate entity from the rest of the city when driving through, but keep a sharp eye out when heading for King John’s Castle and you will see that you have to cross the smaller River Abbey en route. The Abbey is a distributary rather than a tributary, as it forks off from the Shannon a little way upriver, and then joins it again near the old Potato Market. One might well think that the island got its name from the castle, but in fact the 2nd-century Ptolemy map mentioned earlier does show a place called Regia (i.e. King) in exactly the same spot, indicating a much earlier royal settlement. That wouldn’t be surprising, since it’s a natural river crossing and a good defensive position.
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Bunratty Castle








The Viking sea-king Thormodr Helgason used this island base to range up and down the Shannon from Lough Derg to Lough Ree, snatching treasures from monasteries and abbeys along the way. The Limerick raiders, however, met their match in 937 when they clashed with their Dublin counterparts on Lough Ree and were thoroughly defeated.
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Treaty Stone and King John’s Castle, Limerick city








In Norman times, the walled city on King’s Island was known as Englishtown, to distinguish it from Irishtown, which was kept firmly south of the Abbey river and thus off the island. King John’s Castle was built here in 1200 and is one of the best-preserved examples of its kind in Europe. Close by, St Mary’s Cathedral, founded in 1168, is the oldest structure in the city still in daily use. Some five centuries later, the Treaty of Limerick was signed here on a block of limestone, ending the war between the Jacobites and the Williamites.


Killaloe, upstream from Limerick, lies on the southern shore of Lough Derg and the west side of the Shannon, with Ballina directly across on the eastern shore. It’s another one of the principal crossings of this major river road and as such is rich in history and archaeological discoveries. In St Flannan’s Cathedral is a unique stone bearing both Viking runes and ogham. The runes read ‘Thorgrim carved this stone’ while the ogham records ‘A blessing upon Thorgrim.’
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Killaloe, Co. Clare








Killaloe is the birthplace of the High King, Brian Boru, who ruled his kingdom from here before meeting his death at the Battle of Clontarf in 1014. There are two claims for his ancestral home. The first was Kincora, or Ceann Coradh, meaning ‘head of the weir,’ a castle that stood on a hill above what is now Killaloe town. Unfortunately, nothing remains of that ancient royal stronghold. The second site, fortunately, is still with us.
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The Thorgrim stone, St Flannan’s Cathedral








Brian Boru’s Fort is a circular earthwork standing on a spur of land overlooking the point where Lough Derg narrows into the Shannon. It is also known as Béal Bóru, or ‘port of the cattle tribute’, indicating that a toll was levied on goods and animals using this crossing, or alternatively, that tributes were paid here to a ruler. Whoever controlled this fording point controlled the strong trade route from the coast into the heart of the country.


A short walk down from the road leading north from Killaloe town brings you to the huge and silent tree-ringed fort which must have been a hive of activity in the days when it was a royal seat. The king would never have allowed the magnificent surrounding trees to grow to their present height though, as it would have interfered with the ability of the watchmen to keep a sharp eye out in all directions.





[image: ]

Brian Boru’s Fort








The ringfort actually dates from an earlier period than that of Brian Boru. More than 800 stone implements, including stone axes, hammer stones and perforated stone sinkers for lines and nets, have been found in this area, and many stone axes within the fort itself. This suggests that a Stone Age settlement occupied the site because of its position by a convenient fording point, which could also be used as a safe harbour for the small boats used for fishing. It was certainly an excellent strategic spot, and one from which the king could sally forth at speed either along Lough Derg or along the river, depending on where the trouble was brewing.
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Holy Island, Lough Derg








At one time Brian Boru had a fleet of 300 ships on the Shannon, and harried the King of Tara, Mael Sechnaill, right up to his sacred site of Uisneach, modern Co. Westmeath, in pursuit of his own claim to the high kingship. He also went downriver and attacked the Viking settlement at Limerick, causing its leaders to seek refuge on Scattery Island. That didn’t help them, as Brian followed them there, even into the sanctuary of the church, and slaughtered as many as he could find. Perhaps the fact that as a child he had seen his own mother killed by invading Norsemen gave him a particular lust for revenge. A very fine 11th-century sword was found in Lough Derg in 1988, made of iron with silver and copper decoration. It could well have been used by Brian Boru himself or one of his commanders. It is now in the National Museum in Dublin.


Holy Island, or Inis Cealtra, on the same lough is an old monastic site with a round tower, many church ruins, a sacred well, and a graveyard dating back to the 8th century. There is also a bargaining or covenanting stone, where marriages or bargains could be agreed. It is likely that this islet was already a sacred site in pagan times, which encouraged the incoming Christian religion to found a centre of their own here.


The Irish name for Nenagh, a few km to the east of Lough Derg, is An t’Aonach, or The Fair. Since it lies on the River Nenagh, which flows into the lough and thus connects to both the north and the south by river road, such a location would have been a natural choice for traders, eventually leading to the establishment of a town.


At the northern end of Lough Derg lies Portumna (‘the landing place of the oak’), with a long history of ferries and bridges dating back at least to medieval times. Hayes Island in the middle of the river provides a natural halfway landing between counties Tipperary and Galway. The present bridge, opened in 1911, had a swing section (the largest of its kind in Europe) to allow ships up and down river, but this has since been replaced.


Dominating the town is Portumna Castle, a magnificent fortified house, built by Richard de Burgo, 4th Earl of Clanricarde, at the beginning of the 17th century. Without parallel in Ireland at the time for its splendour, it is said to have cost £10,000; this is difficult to calculate in today’s terms, but it’s certainly close to £30m (€34m). The family lived here for generations until the house was severely damaged by fire in 1826. Just over a century later, Princess Mary (daughter of George V) visited the house with her husband, Viscount Lascelles (later Earl of Harewood), who had inherited the property from the last Earl of Clanricarde. They considered restoring the house but the plan never materialised. Today, though, much of the gardens have been brought back to their former grandeur, as well as the ground floor of the house itself, and both are open to the public.
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Portumna Castle, Co. Galway








In striking contrast to Portumna Castle is the old Portumna Workhouse, opened in 1850 to house 600 inhabitants in gaunt grey buildings surrounding a central square. Dreaded by the poor but a last resort before starvation, it was a harsh place where families were separated on arrival. Today, when few young people realise that such a place could ever have existed, it is salutary to visit Ireland’s only Workhouse Centre, housed in the original Portumna building on St Brigid’s Road. This has been restored to the stark conditions that faced those who had lost their homes and land through inability to pay rent to the landlords.


In an older Ireland, matters were handled more courteously. Under the traditional Brehon Laws, the wealthy had a duty to take care of the sick and the poor, and to welcome visitors. When Christianity came to Ireland, monasteries and abbeys took on the role of caring, as well as providing food and shelter for travellers. Someone journeying up or down the Shannon in medieval times could be sure of finding board and lodging along the way.
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Portumna Workhouse








Next upstream is the river port of Banagher. Many of the travellers passing through here were pilgrims, heading for Clonfert or Clonmacnoise, but there would also have been constantly feuding forces from Leinster, Munster or Connacht, all of whose boundaries meet in this region. In the 16th century, English forces sailed up the Shannon to seize Banagher for themselves, and acquire the advantages of a good crossing point. An early bridge built in 1049 was replaced by a stone structure in 1685. A broken arch can still be seen below the modern structure that carries traffic across the Shannon today.


Wool contributed largely to Banagher’s prosperity up to the 17th century, but severe restrictions were placed on this trade in 1699 by an England concerned for any risk to its own wool industry. The export of grain, however, continued. The novelist Anthony Trollope came here in 1841 to work for the post office, and remained three years, writing his first two novels in Banagher. Charlotte Brontë came here too: she had married her father’s curate, and they were making a honeymoon visit to his relatives in the town.


About 20km (12.5 miles) to the east of Banagher lies Lough Boora. It might hardly seem linked to the Shannon, but in fact it is a remnant of a time when the river and its lakes covered a larger area than they do today. Excavations in 1977 revealed a Mesolithic settlement at Boora, dating to around 6,800 BC. Previously it had been assumed that early settlement was always near the coast, migration into the centre of Ireland taking a lot longer. Now we know that intrepid explorers were paddling well up the Shannon and its tributaries about 3,000 years earlier than previously thought.


Banagher lies at the centre of a very special area known as the Shannon Callows, which stretches from Portumna up to Athlone, between Lough Derg and Lough Ree. Callows are wet grasslands or meadows that lie along the floodplains of large rivers, and those on the Shannon are classified as a special area of conservation. Many species of birds occur here, the rarest and best-loved being the endangered corncrake.
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Shannon Callows








Shannonbridge is noted chiefly for its splendid 18th-century bridge as well as a fort built in fear of a Napoleonic invasion via the river. The delightfully named island of Swimming Place of Two Birds, or Snámh Dá Éan, lies upriver between Shannonbridge and Clonmacnoise. At this ancient fording place, St Patrick is said to have crossed into Connacht. Later the Normans built the Motte of Clonburren on the west bank, close to where an early Christian nunnery already stood. In fact, when you look at the Shannon, it is notable how many islands there actually are in the river, and how often these are old fording places across an otherwise wide and deep stretch of water.


Clonmacnoise, poised on the river bank, can seem not quite of this world with its ruined churches, spires and carved crosses. Founded around 550 by St Ciaran, it soon grew to prominence because of its location at the crossroads of two ancient routes: the Shannon and a trackway known as the Eiscir Riada, which we will meet in the next chapter. The Christian settlement probably grew up over an earlier centre here, since both the river and the track were known in ancient times, long before the new religion came from the East.
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The bridge that gives Shannonbridge village its name








It wasn’t just pilgrims that visited Clonmacnoise. Waves of raiders attacked it over the centuries, and not always Vikings. Of eighty documented raids, seven were perpetrated by the Vikings, twenty-seven by the Irish themselves, six by the Normans, and a surprising forty by the English. (The new colonists were anxious to hold this great crossroads for themselves, given the possibility of attack from any direction, and their distinct lack of popularity with the resident population.)


Beyond Clonmacnoise, Athlone is the only crossing point before Lough Ree. The busy town (Átha Luain, ‘the town of Luain’s Ford’) wouldn’t exist if it had not possessed a place where the river could be crossed safely. This was in use at least since the Bronze Age.


Turlough O’Connor, then king of Connacht, built a bridge here in the 11th century, and by the 12th century there was a fort to defend it. Later came a Norman motte and bailey, superseded in its turn by the English-built 13th-century Athlone Castle, which still stands today. The castle was a Jacobite stronghold during several savage sieges of the town. De Vere’s stirring poem immortalises the exploits of Patrick Sarsfield and the supporters of King James II, who were determined to cut the all-important bridge as they retreated into Connacht.
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Athlone Castle














‘O, who for Erin will strike a stroke,


Who hurl yon planks where the waters roar?’


Six warriors forth from their comrades broke,


And flung them upon that bridge once more. 







Again at the rocking planks they dashed;


And four dropped dead, and two remained;


The huge beams groaned, and the arch down-crashed,


Two stalwart swimmers the margin gained.







St Ruth in his stirrups stood up, and cried,


‘I have seen no deed like that in France!’


With a toss of his head Sarsfield replied,


‘They had luck, the dogs! ’Twas a merry chance!’











There is a pub in Athlone that was already old when the Jacobites faced the Williamites across the Shannon. Luain’s Inn, or, as it is more familiarly known, Sean’s Bar, dates, unbelievably, from around 900. When it was being renovated in the 1970s, the walls were found to be the genuine wattle-and-daub of that period. It is said that Luain, the first owner, would guide people across the ford, thus giving his name to the town in perpetuity, further evidence that settlement always grows up around such a crossing. There is a record of every single owner of the pub since then, including pop singer Boy George, who took a brief fancy to it in the 1980s. The premises proudly holds the title of Oldest Pub in Ireland in the Guinness Book of Records, and is aiming to seize the record for Oldest Pub in the World. It’s not often you can sit over a peaceful drink in a hostelry that dates back more than a thousand years. As first Normans, then Tudors, Stuarts, Georgians and Victorians, took over power in the country, and war after war was fought across Europe, this venerable inn remained virtually unchanged, and travellers gratefully quaffed its ale, before making the crossing of the Shannon on their way east or west.


Now the Shannon widens into the vast expanse of Lough Ree, with Leinster to the east and Connacht to the west. One of the many islands scattered throughout the lake is known as Inchcleraun. It had a monastery in early Christian times and still contains the ruins of several old churches. Some legends say this is where Queen Maeve was killed, although other stories insist that she never died but still lives on in the Otherworld. The Viking Turgesius had a ringfort here too. Lough Ree was ideal for the Northern raiders, as they always preferred islands on open stretches of water with good views in every direction. No fewer than five hoards of Viking treasure have been found in this lough, including the largest known of gold ornaments, on Hare Island, weighing 10kg (22lbs).


Another concentration of Viking hoards was found around Lough Ennell, to the east of Lough Ree, and thought to have formed part of the larger lake in ancient times. Of the six collections found, five were of silver ingots with one, the Carrick Hoard, containing 60 ingots, weighing over 30kg, the largest of its kind ever found here. Lough Ennell is on the Brosna, a tributary of the Shannon. Turgesius, who had his ringfort on Lough Ree, is said to have drowned in Lough Owel, the source of the Brosna, just above Lough Ennell. It is quite likely that the raider traders also linked into Loughs Derravaragh, Sheelin and Gowra, above Owel, either by river or by portage, i.e. pulling their boats across short stretches of land between waterways.


Ballinderry’s lough and bogland, which lie between Lough Ree and Lough Ennell, have yielded an exceptional number of Viking finds, especially around a crannog, or lake dwelling there. Notable among these is the Ballinderry Board, a gaming piece made of yew wood with a grid of peg holes. It’s now in the National Museum in Dublin.


Visitors from far-flung lands


There are those who hold that Egyptians sailed up our great river road more than 2,000 years ago to attend the Festival of Fire, or Bealtaine, on the Hill of Uisneach at the beginning of May. Bealtaine marks the start of summer in Ireland and it was customary in pagan times to extinguish all household fires on May Eve, only to relight them from a sacred blaze kindled by druids at the appointed time. Uisneach, the ancient power centre of Ireland and one of the great assembly places of antiquity, lies to the east of the Shannon but close to Lough Ennell and thus the Brosna that connects it to the mother river. It’s a powerful place to visit, to climb, from which to see all of Ireland. At least twenty archaeological monuments are visible above ground on the hill today, and a great many more are known to lie underground. Excavations in the 1920s revealed an extremely lavish palace, thought to be the home of King Tuathal Techtmar around the 1st century.


Chief attraction for visitors today is Aill-na-Mirenn, the Stone of the Divisions (more familiarly known as the Catstone), a huge boulder where kings of the four provinces of Ireland would meet in conclave, and under which Eriu, the goddess of Ireland, is said to be buried. And the Festival of Fire has been revived, drawing crowds to hail the dawn on May Day.


It’s a perfectly lovely idea to think of Egyptian wise men solemnly sailing up the Shannon in their magnificently decorated cedarwood ships, and turning right into the Brosna, to moor as close as possible to the Hill of Uisneach. Unlikely, yes, but certainly possible. After all, they were familiar with navigation on their own river superhighway (as on the Shannon, the Nile’s combination of downstream current and upstream prevailing wind assisted travel). It would be a nice idea to recreate this journey. There are plenty of Viking re-enactments on the Shannon, so why not an Egyptian one?


At the top end of Lough Ree lies Lanesborough (in Irish, Béal Átha Liag, or ‘ford of the flagstones’). A crossing point for millennia, it had its first bridge by the end of the 9th century, which was a joint effort by the kings of Meath and Connacht to defeat the Vikings. The Shannon divides the town, and when Rathcline Castle and its lands were granted to Lord Lane by Charles II in 1664, in recognition of his loyalty to the Crown, the eastern side of the river became known as Lanesborough, while the western side kept the name Béal Átha Liag, or Ballyleague.


There are several more small loughs on the way up to Carrick-on-Shannon: Kilglass, Bofin, and, at Carrick itself, Drumharlow. The Irish name for Carrick is Cora Droma Rúisc, or ‘weir of the marshy ridge’. Once again, it grew up around a good fording point on the Shannon. It has certainly been occupied since the Iron Age, and the remains of a fortification can still be seen at Drumsna.


The village of Leitrim, 5km (3 miles) upriver from Carrick, is a small place today, but important in ancient times, as the crossing point of the Shannon here was the link between Connacht and Ulster, two provinces whose feuding was immortalised in the Táin Bo Cuailinge. It also marked a feasible portage point between the Erne and the Shannon, which enabled Viking raiders with their light ships to come across and surprise Irish settlements from an unexpected direction. Today these rivers are genuinely linked by the Shannon-Erne Waterway, and holiday-makers on boats have given the little settlement a new lease of life.
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Ancient dugout canoe








Finally Lough Allen is reached, close to the river’s source in the Iron Mountains, and the last (or first, depending on which way you are going) of the Shannon’s three major lakes. Hundreds of stone tools from the Mesolithic era have been discovered around the shore, possibly connected with the mining of iron ore from Slieve Anierin. The ore extracted could be shipped downriver to the Shannon estuary for exchange with traders. There are traces of an old trackway leading to the river crossing near Kilgarriff at the north end of the lough, and the remains of a very old oak dugout canoe were found in the same area around 2015 by local enthusiasts who monitor the flora and fauna of Lough Beg.


To get an oak tree of over 1m (3.2ft) in diameter, such as was used to make this would be rare nowadays, and suggests that it could have been carved as far back as 4,000 years ago, when larger trees were widely available. There were extensive forests around Lough Allen until the 17th century, but these were stripped to make charcoal.


Dowra (in Irish, An Damhshraith, or ‘the shrine of the ox’) marks the uppermost navigable point on the Shannon, and also the border between Leitrim and Cavan. The Irish name may well reflect the pagan belief in gods appearing in the form of bulls or cows. Dowra is actually a ‘new’ village, after an earlier one nearby, Tober, was swept away by landslides in the 1860s. In the early part of the 20th century, 10 of Dowra’s 18 houses were licensed to sell alcohol; whether this was a reflection of the local mining industry or a general inclination to enjoy life to the full is not clear. Parts of the Iron Age Black Pig’s Dyke, a discontinuous earthwork that stretches across nine northern counties, can be seen west of Dowra, alongside the Shannon.


And so, at last, after more than 350km (218 miles), we arrive at the source of this mighty river, the Shannon Pot, on the slopes of Cuilcagh Mountain in Cavan. It is a dark, rather mysterious pool about 16m (52ft) wide and of unknown depth. 
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The Shannon Pot, Co. Cavan








Recently a claim has been made that the Shannon does not in fact rise at the Shannon Pot at all, but further north, over the border in Co. Fermanagh, at a place called Pigeon Pot. This claim rests on an experiment of pouring green dye into the water at the new location and observing that it duly came through at the traditional site. However, the possibility of redefining the Shannon to give it a cross-border beginning need not be taken too seriously. Most rivers are created from several smaller sources, which become the main flood only when they have all joined together. The River Lee in Co. Cork, for example, is formed from myriad tiny streamlets running down from the hills around Gougane Barra, and it is only when it emerges from the lake here that it becomes the River Lee proper.


Back to the Shannon Pot though. In 2009 cave divers descended to a depth of 14.6m (48ft), and discovered the entrance to a tantalising but unsafe underwater cavern apparently reaching far back into the mountain. Better not to push your luck with the genius of Ireland’s mightiest river. The Shannon does not care for us to probe too far into its origins.


THE BANN: SPINNING AN ANCIENT THREAD


One quiet afternoon, long, long ago, as the sun was dipping towards the horizon, a group of people in small wicker-and-hide coracles cautiously approached a deserted sandy shore and the mouth of a river. Paddling upstream, until they felt they were a safe distance from the open sea, the travellers looked around. Shallow water, a crossing place, a forested bluff overlooking the river. It looked ideal.


The lightweight boats were dragged ashore, and the small group of people scrambled out. Some set to cutting down saplings with their prized stone axes, while others unloaded bundles of hides. Soon rough shelters were up, made of long branches tied together at the top, with the hides laid over them and fastened in place. By the time those tasked with catching fish and birds had returned, a fire was going.
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The Bann estuary
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Source of the Bann, Co. Down








Sitting round the fire after eating, the people nodded to each other. It had been a good idea to try for this new home in a new land, up an unexplored river. There was plenty of fish to be caught, and there was plenty of game in the forest too. Yes, there was space here, and their chosen site seemed safe from intruders. They heaved a sigh of relief, and allowed themselves to relax a little. This felt like home – for now at least.


A trifle fanciful, perhaps, but factual in all the essentials. The River Bann (or, in Irish, Ban-dea, which means ‘goddess’) rises in the Mourne Mountains in Co. Down and flows north through Lough Neagh to reach the sea near Coleraine. Here stood Mount Sandel, the oldest settlement in Ireland, dating from 9,000 years ago. That, to put it in perspective, is 4,500 years before Stonehenge, 5,000 years before the Great Pyramids, and almost 7,000 years before the building of the Great Wall of China.
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Mount Sandel, Coleraine








Where these first settlers came from, we don’t yet know. Perhaps the Mull of Kintyre, the Hebrides, or elsewhere in neighbouring Scotland. Or further afield, from Scandinavia. Traders might have carried back stories of a peaceful, forested shoreline, and that was enough for the adventurous.


They made flint tools: indeed the classic Later Mesolithic tool was known as the Bann flake because so many thousands have been found along this river. It’s a simple leaf-shaped flint resembling a spear head. They also, however, used polished stone axes which are much more sophisticated and effective. These must have come from either of two known Neolithic axe quarries: one at the foot of Slievebulliagh, a mountain on the Antrim coast near Cushendall, the other on Rathlin Island off Ballycastle, at both of which there seems to have been a very early form of industrial production, based on veins of porcellanite, a particularly hard and dense rock, which occur there. Highly desired for their quality, the axes have been found all over Ireland and Great Britain. Our settlers might have carried these with them when they arrived, or enterprising early traders might have paddled into the mouth of the Bann and exchanged them for foodstuffs.


Thousands of years passed, and a rich Bronze Age culture developed along the Bann. In 1939, the river yielded a finely decorated bronze disc, dating from the 1st century and now in the Ulster Museum in Belfast. The local history journal is known as The Bann Disc in its honour. The disc itself is perhaps only equalled by some of the items from the Broighter Hoard, discovered in 1896 in a field near Limavady, 22km (14 miles) away. The hoard included a gold torc and the unique Broighter Boat, a tiny vessel measuring just 18.4cm (just over 7 inches) long, but fully equipped with benches, rowlocks, oars and a rudder, as well as grappling tools, forks, a yardarm and a spear. It is the earliest depiction of an Irish sailing ship and, if it is to scale, suggests a boat about 15m (49ft) long. You can see it in the National Museum in Dublin and it really is worth going there to delight in its tiny perfection. The Broighter Torc, or collar, is there too.
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Mount Sandel sculpture








The Coleraine Hoard, found near Ballinrees, to the west of Coleraine town in 1854, contained a large number of Roman silver coins as well as a silver bowl, silver ingots, and hacksilver (fragments, often used as trading currency). The Roman legions never invaded Ireland, so the find suggests a haul made by Irish raiders who had gone hunting across the sea to neighbouring Britain, or seized cargoes from passing ships.


In the meantime, Coleraine itself continued to develop. When Colmcille returned from Iona to Ireland for the Convention of Drum Ceat (near present-day Limavady) around 570, he came via the Bann and Coleraine. One of the most famous occasions of ancient times, Drum Ceat was called to sort out the testy relationship between the High King of Donegal and his opposite number in Dál Riada. (We will come across this event again in the following chapter.) Colmcille was summoned there because of his skills and diplomacy in settling such thorny matters.


At Coleraine, the saint spent some time at Camus, St Comgall’s monastery on Loughan Island, where there was an old and well-known ford across the Bann. (Camus in Irish is cam uisce, or ‘river bend’.) It is here that Colmcille is said to have foretold the bloody battle of Dún Cethrin, a fort that once stood on the hill now known as the Giant’s Sconce.
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Remains of the Camus Cross near Coleraine








Colmcille could have looked further in the future and seen even more wars and bloodshed. In 1542 the raiding O’Donnells of Donegal captured Loughan from the McQuillans, who came back in force in 1544 and burned the entire island in revenge. When the river was being dredged in the mid-19th century, literally cartloads of weapons and other artefacts were removed.


There was an early medieval cross in the island churchyard that was broken and being used as a gatepost in 1700. Fortunately, the surviving fragment was discovered in 1905 and moved back to its rightful position. It’s a beautiful piece of carved work on red sandstone, with the Ark and the murder of Abel depicted on one side, with the baptism of Jesus, and his arrest on the other.


The Plantation


Coleraine’s expansion as a port is intrinsically bound up with the Plantation of Ulster in 1607, a determined attempt by the Crown to ensure the area gave no more trouble by settling it with cooperative colonists. Coleraine had always carried on a flourishing trade with its nearest neighbours in Scotland, but after 1607 business grew exponentially, and by 1637 the town was a port of some consequence, importing all the necessities for the comfort of the new settlers. Tiles, spades, chisels, iron tools, plus luxury items, such as sugar, and reams of cloth, were all imported. Even large quantities of a product discreetly listed as ‘pott paper’ were provided. Going the other way, exports included grain, livestock, linen yarn and salted salmon.


This noble fish has always been plentiful on the Bann. At the Salmon Leap, also known as The Cutts, just above Coleraine town, you can see the full force of the Bann and get some idea of the sheer power of the river that they take on as they struggle upstream. The name The Cutts records the fact that the stone slabs of the riverbed here were cut through in the 17th century to allow timber to be floated down to Coleraine.
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The Clothworkers Building, Coleraine








Many competed for the rich fishing rights in the Bann, among them the MacDonnells of Dunluce, but as part of Plantation encouragement they were granted in perpetuity to the London-based Honourable The Irish Society, which still holds them today.


Upstream from the Salmon Leap, the Bann forms the border between the modern-day counties of Derry-Londonderry and Antrim. This river valley has been inhabited since at least 7,000 BC. Craigs Dolmen, also known as the Broad Stone (actually a passage tomb), north of Rasharkin, dates from around 2,000 BC, while Dooey’s Cairn, near Dunloy, is the best-preserved court tomb in this region.


The village of Portglenone owes its existence to the Bann, since pebbly shallows at this point made for a natural crossing point. The port that gives the village its name still welcomes boats today, as it has done for centuries, although now they are more likely to be pleasure cruisers than warships. There was a castle here from 1197, built for the Norman John de Courcy, but this was demolished in the 19th century by Dr Alexander, a bishop, who built Portglenone House on the site. That notable revolutionary and fighter for human rights, Sir Roger Casement, often stayed there in the early 20th century before his execution by the British for treason in 1916. It is now a Trappist monastery founded by monks from Mount Melleray in Co. Waterford. The forest park nearby is a remnant of the ancient woodland that once covered this entire region.
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Church Island, Lough Beg








Before the mighty waters of Lough Neagh are reached, there is Lough Beg, in which stands Inis Toide, or Church Island. Monastic ruins here are said to date from the time of St Patrick who sailed up the Bann to found an early Christian settlement. There is a bullaun stone here too. Local tradition holds that the central depression on this was made by the knees of Patrick as he knelt to pray, but these hollowed stones are to be found in many places across Ireland and are certainly pre-Christian. They may originally have been used for grinding grain, but are often associated with ritual spells to bring bad or good luck.


The monastic settlement was mentioned in the medieval Annals of Inisfallen, where it was noted that the faithful rowed out to pray or seek cures from the herb gardens tended by the monks. There is a rag or ‘clootie’ tree nearby, where people still tie scraps to strengthen their prayerful wishes.
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Bullaun stones are found across Ireland.
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Rag tree, where the devout tie a rag to aid their prayers








The wetlands surrounding Lough Beg and Church Island are famous not just for the large numbers of wildfowl which winter here, but also for the rare plants that can be found. As such, they are a protected nature reserve.


There is a spire by the ruins, but this is not related to the original monastery. It came much later on – in the late 18th century in fact – when the Earl Bristol, Bishop of Derry, demanded just such a focal point to improve the view from his splendid mansion at nearby Ballyscullion, with no fewer than 365 windows. That mansion is long gone, but the spire survives, though it had a bit of a shock when a plane taking off from Creagh airfield at Toome during World War II brushed it with a wingtip. Still, they built them tough back then.


Lough Neagh is the biggest lake in Ireland or Britain, with a surface area of 392 sq km (151 sq miles). Five of Northern Ireland’s six counties border it, only Fermanagh missing out (but then, Fermanagh has Lough Erne instead). 





[image: ]

Ruined cottage, Lough Neagh








Traditional stories of how the lough appeared usually involve a king’s daughter, who forgets to put the cover back over a magic spring, which then floods and drowns the kingdom. There is a grain of folk memory in these stories, recollecting disastrous floodings of the past. Thomas Moore’s song, Let Erin Remember, echoes the legend that the drowned kingdom may still be seen at certain times of the year:








On Lough Neagh’s bank as the fisherman strays,


When the clear cold eve’s declining,


He sees the round towers of other days


In the wave beneath him shining…











Another legend attributes its creation to Finn McCool who, in the heat of an argument, tore up a great chunk of ground and hurled it at a Scottish giant. The missile fell into the sea and became the Isle of Man, while the hollow left behind swiftly filled up and became Lough Neagh.


Some sources suggest that the lake’s name is derived from Uí Eachach, or ‘descendants of Eochaidh’. Could these people stem from the Mount Sandel settlement at the river’s end? Certainly people have lived and worked around its shores since prehistoric times. At Newferry, where the Bann emerges once more from the lake, archaeological excavations have revealed a settlement occupied from about 5,500 BC to 3,500 BC, and another has been found on Coney Island in the lake itself.


Later, Christianity established churches and monasteries here, while the Vikings are known to have wintered at Lough Neagh in 840, using it as a base from which to plunder wealthy religious houses.


A little-known fact is that Lough Neagh has supported eel fishing for centuries. The young eels swim a staggering 6,000km (4,000 miles) from the Sargasso Sea in the North Atlantic to the mouth of the Bann. They then journey upriver, stay in the lough for 10 to 15 years, then head back to the Sargasso to spawn. Their offspring will make the same journey in their turn.


The lough also has a reputation for its healing properties, especially around the area where a small tributary, Holy River, enters it. There are many records of people with afflictions being cured by the application of or immersion in its waters and the practice continues to this day. Maybe the eels have something to do with it?


At the southern end of Lough Neagh sits Bannfoot. There was once a fort here, called Bun an Bhealaigh or ‘end of the road’, which indeed it must have appeared to be, with vast Lough Neagh opening out ahead. The fort’s troops watched for unfriendly craft approaching, but also guarded the crossing of the river, and collected tolls. There was a ferry here in the 18th century, but no facility by either boat or bridge today. If you really want to cross, you’ll have to head south to connect with the M1 nearer Portadown.


Portadown, Banbridge and Gilford were three towns near the lough shore that really realised their potential with the coming of the steam age. Portadown developed iron foundries, whiskey distillers, corn millers, jam makers, bacon curers, even potters, and all prospered because of the river on their doorstep, which provided both power and transport. Traces of the old town quays and some of the former manufacturing buildings can still be seen.


Banbridge didn’t really come into existence until the 18th century, when a bridge was built over the river here. The Star of the County Down, Cathal McGarvey’s 19th-century ballad, made famous by John McCormack and sung by everyone from The Swingles to Van Morrison thereafter, ensures the town’s name is never forgotten:








Near Banbridge town in the County Down


One morning in last July


Down a boreen green came a sweet colleen


And she smiled as she passed me by…











The town of Gilford too grew in prosperity with industrialisation, and still boasts the remains of a huge linen mill. Archaeological digs in 2010 revealed several ancient fulacht fiadh (food preparation sites, where hot stones were used to boil water in a trough), as well as a medieval grain-drying kiln.
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Gilford Mill in its heyday
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Gilford Mill as it is today








It is at Hilltown, almost at the source of the Bann, that ancient and later times blend effortlessly. Goward Dolmen, also known as the Cloughmore Cromlech or Finn’s Finger, stands just outside the village. The gigantic capstone (estimated to weigh at least 50 tons) has slipped slightly from its original position, but that only strengthens our wonder at how on earth it was first erected. Yet another alternative local name for it is ‘Pat Kearney’s Stone’ because an old man by that name lived in a cottage close to the megalith and showed people around, doubtless relaying many of the local legends and beliefs as he did so.
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Goward Dolmen, Co. Down








Millennia later, the entire Bann entered a new phase when the Irish linen industry began in earnest.


Flax is generally thought to have been brought to northern Europe by the Romans or, earlier still, by the Phoenicians. Some early Irish legends, however, suggest that it was here even before that. One legend holds that the skill of flax preparation was taught to the people by a mysterious tribe living on Slievenamon, who had come from a far distant land. It’s fun to speculate on who they could have been. Egyptians? Or perhaps from nearer Europe: evidence of linen production dating from around 8,000 BC has been found in Swiss lake dwellings.


Archaeology undertaken in Irish boglands has also yielded evidence that flax and linen were familiar to our ancestors at least 2,000 years ago. The Brehon Laws discuss linen production (it was obligatory for farmers to learn its cultivation), and certainly linen clothing and vestments were in use in early Christian times.


The soft, damp Irish climate is ideal for growing this crop, and a plentiful supply of water for the necessary preparation of the fibres has never been a problem. The plant (which bears quite beautiful blue flowers) was grown as tall as possible, and then cut in bundles to be soaked and ‘retted’ or rotted in pools or containers of water. When the fibres had broken down sufficiently, the bundles were beaten and ‘hackled’ or ‘scutched’ by drawing them between a nail-studded frame. The final soft fibres were wound on to a distaff and spun.
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Flax flower








Spinning flax to make thread, and weaving it to get cloth, was a family task. Before the spinning wheel arrived in Europe around the 13th century, every inch of yarn would have been made on a spindle – a simple stick with a weight at one end and a hook at the other. Ancient spindle whorls, small discs of stone or pottery with a hole in the centre for the stick, have been found in many places in Ireland. You could just as easily make a spindle from a suitable stick you find in the hedgerow, with a small potato (or anything else you could use for a weight) rammed on to the end. Try it next time you’re out: although it’s unlikely you will be able to lay your hands on usable flax, there is always plenty of sheep fleece to be found caught in the hedgerows. Pull out a length, twist, tie it on, and spin. It’s the twist or spin that holds the fibres together.


Old fairy tales often tell of a young girl who has to weave shirts from nettles to break an enchantment. It is, in fact, entirely possible to do this– but you’d be advised to try it in the autumn when the stings are less vicious. Soak and ret the nettles just like flax, to release the long fibres. (The resultant soggy mess will smell as badly as the flax did in the days of our forebears, but the soaking water makes a spectacular manure for plants!)


Once enough flax thread was spun, it was woven on roughly made wooden looms. This very long and tedious task explains why clothing used to be so valuable that it was often passed on after death in wills.


Irish linen was and is famous. In the 16th century, among the wealthy at least, garments using enormous yardages of linen were fashionable. Men’s shirts were, an English traveller reported, made from thirty or forty ells of linen – that’s 30m (100ft), while women’s chemises could be a mere 10m (35ft)! King Henry VIII of England passed laws specifically for Ireland, forbidding the use of more than seven yards in a chemise, or any dyeing with saffron, as too much luxury was not good for a subjugated race. Little notice was taken of the king’s edict; at the end of that century, another English visitor reported that ‘the Irish wore linen shirts of great length for wantonnesse and braverye’. It was a prodigal use of the hard-won cloth.
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Traditional spinning wheel








The introduction of the spinning wheel made the production of yarn faster and easier, and in more remote parts of Ireland, especially the islands, where cottage industry continued to be a way of life, its use persisted well into the 20th century. In the 1790s, the Irish Linen Board had almost 60,000 names on its list for the award of spinning wheels. People who planted one acre of flax were given four spinning wheels; someone who planted five acres got a loom for weaving.


The spinning wheel is an intrinsic part of Irish culture, often immortalised in song:








Mellow the moonlight to shine is beginning


Close by the window young Eileen is spinning


Bent o’er the fire her blind grandmother’s sitting


Crooning and humming and drowsily knitting.







Merrily, cheerily, noiselessly whirring


Swings the wheel, spins the wheel while the foot’s stirring


Spritely and lightly and merrily ringing


Sounds the sweet voice of the young maiden singing.


(‘The Spinning Wheel’, John Francis Waller)











There was a ‘big’ or ‘walking’ wheel, worked from a standing position, while the smaller upright wheel was better for confined spaces. Younger, unmarried girls (that’s where the term ‘spinster’ comes from) spun the flax and wound up skeins of the finished thread. Middle men would ride from village to village, collecting the skeins and taking them to other villages where weavers turned it into cloth. They would then collect the finished cloth and take it for beetling (rather like the felting of wool blankets), bleaching, and finally transporting to a large town for selling on. In the pre-canal, pre-railway days, all of this took place by using river roads.


It should be noted that the encouragement of linen production was an English policy. Irish wool production was suppressed so as not to compete with English trade, and linen was encouraged, especially in the northern part of the country where the plantation with Scottish or English settlers had taken place. Along the River Bann, mills gradually took over from cottage industry.
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An early advertisement for the linen industry








To get the pure white linen thread that was in demand, the industry at first concentrated on the upper reaches of the Bann, above Portadown, because when water flows through peat bog it becomes brown in colour, which affected the shade of the yarn. The finished cloth was stretched out to be whitened in the sun on what became known as bleaching greens beside the river. A family named Christy was traditionally said to have introduced linen bleaching into the Upper Bann Valley in or around 1675. By 1772, there were no fewer than 26 bleach-greens on the Bann.


Many people now opted for employment in the new mills, which gradually spread the entire length of the Bann Valley. We tend to regard factory work as demanding, but it could well have been easier than exhausting labour in the fields, with spinning and weaving still to be fitted in somehow around the day’s edges. An advertisement of 1827 emphasises the vital importance of the river to industry:




For sale at Ballievey, close to Banbridge: Dwelling house, orchard, yards and gardens, bleaching mills, farm and premises, known as Ballievey House. The River Bann flows through these premises. The Bleaching Mills, which are in the best possible repair, are capable of finishing from 12 to 13,000 Pieces of Linen annually, and are also capable of being much extended. A new Water Wheel the very best description, besides other new Machinery, has been lately erected.





The very name of Hillfoot tells you that you are almost at the source of the Bann; just climb a little to the Deer’s Meadow on Slieve Muc (which translates as ‘hill of the pig’ or, more probably, wild boar), and revel in the beautiful scenery spreading all around. The mountains of Mourne really do sweep magnificently down to the sea here, as Percy French claimed, and they are a fitting place for this great river to start its journey from one coast to another, through centuries of history:








Oh, Mary, this London’s a wonderful sight,


With people all working by day and by night.


Sure, they don’t sow potatoes, nor barley, nor wheat,


But there’s gangs of them digging for gold in the street.


At least when I asked them that’s what I was told,


So I just took a hand at this digging for gold,


But for all that I found there I might as well be


Where the mountains of Mourne sweep down to the sea.











The mountains awaken an irresistible urge to quit speed and stress, and immerse yourself in a quieter, older world where superb views over the Silent Valley are revealed below Ben Crom as the sun sets. Many have been inspired by the natural beauty of the Mournes, and perhaps none more so than the writer CS Lewis who grew up here, and, many years later, in a book-lined Oxford study, drew on those fond childhood memories to create the magical land of Narnia.


RIVERS SUIR, NORE AND BARROW: THREE TWINING SISTERS
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Old Waterford city








Waterford on the southeast coast, lays claim to being the oldest city in Ireland, and well it might be. Not because of charters granted by English monarchs when they imposed colonial rule in the 12th century: in that case, Waterford, approved in 1206, would come behind cities like Dublin (1172), Cork (1185) and Limerick (1199). No, we don’t date by kingly recognition; rather it’s a question of which city became the biggest centre of population earliest. The Danes were establishing a presence in Waterford by the 9th century. A large settlement excavated in 2003 at Woodstown, some 5.5km (3 miles) west of the city, proved to be a strongly defended riverside trading centre, the only one of its kind to be found in Western Europe. There are likely to have been settlements here even earlier than that, though, taking advantage of the wide natural harbour and the rivers flowing from the interior.


The Deise, who occupied this region from at least the 5th century, had a strong maritime tradition and possessed colonies in southwest Wales. Indeed they probably carried out profitable slave-trading across the short gap between Waterford and the Gower Peninsula. Was one of their captives the young man, later to become Patrick, patron saint of Ireland? Taliesin, an early medieval Welsh poet, very nearly was:
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